IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-00845-SCT

STEADMAN DAVIS a/k/a Steadman Allen Davis

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Steadman Davis

THIS Bay of February, 2009.

By:

Respectfully submitted,

STEADMAN DAVIS

George T. Hølmes,

Mississippi Office of Indigent Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER DAVIS WAS DENIED CRUCIAL JURY INSTRUCTIONS?

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE VERDICTS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds

County, Mississippi where Steadman Davis was convicted of motor vehicle theft and of being a

convicted felon in possession of a firearm. The convictions resulted from a jury trial conducted

March 10, 2008, over which the Honorable W. Swan Yerger, Circuit Judge, presided. Davis

was sentenced to five (5) years for the theft charge and three (3) consecutive years on the gun

charge and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

There was a Sunday afternoon shoot-out at 233 Redwood Avenue in Jackson on August 21, 2006 between the Appellant, Steadman Davis, and his former girlfriend, Deborah Wright. [T. 117, 195-96, 215-16, 248-49, 363-70]. What led up to this event was disputed with evidence from both sides. [T. 182-88, 356-63]. The incident resulted in Steadman being shot in the buttocks and convicted of theft of an automobile and of being a felon in possession of a firearm, but being acquitted of shooting into an occupied dwelling and acquitted of kidnapping. [R. 4, 46-49, 54-57; T. 195-96, 215, 301, 249, 368, 489-95].

Steadman and Deborah had dated and lived together at 214 Queen Anne Lane, in Jackson for several months. [T. 185-86, 356-61]. There were physical fights between them. [T. 187,

358]. Earlier in August 2006, Deborah had moved in with her daughter at the nearby 233 Redwood Street address where the shooting incident occurred [T. 188-90, 367]. Steadman said he remained at the Queen Anne Lane house, but was in the process of moving out. [T. 363].

Steadman was in the tree cutting business and was based out of Raymond. [T. 358-62]. Two of Deborah's relatives worked with Steadman. [Id. at 362]. Steadman said that when his relationship with Deborah turned violent, these relatives sought to tame the situation by a show of muscle and threats of physical harm. [T. 365-66].

The state presented testimony that on the day of the shooting, Deborah received a phone call from her brother, Cornelius Wells, that Steadman had him at gunpoint and was threatening to kill him if he did not bring Steadman to where Deborah was staying. [T. 194-95]. Moments later, Cornelius and Steadman arrived in Cornelius's Kia Sportage. *Id.* Upon arrival, Cornelius reportedly bailed out of the vehicle running to hide behind a tree. [T. 248]. Steadman was described as approaching the house with a weapon which he allegedly fired three or four times, before being hit in the buttock with return fire from Deborah. [T. 248-49].

Steadman was then said to have gotten back into the Kia and driven off only to pass back by a few moments later after police arrived. [T. 118, 197, 249-50]. Steadman was arrested near Jackson State and taken in for medical treatment then to the jail. [T. 298-301]. Deborah said that the responding police were "all women" and when Steadman passed back by the house, they were the female officers were the first to duck back into the house. [T. 197-98].

Steadman presented testimony from Irene Sheppard a Hinds County Deputy who worked at Detention Center as a booking officer. [T. 409-14]. Deputy Sheppard testified that Steadman had done work for her and had borrowed her car. *Id.* Sheppard said that on the day of the

shooting, she was on the phone talking to Steadman who was planning on returning her vehicle.

- Id. During the telephone conversation, Steadman said hold on my "ex-brother-in-law is here."
- Id. Deputy Sheppard then described how she stayed on the line and overheard muffled conversations and then heard someone yelling "kill him", then the sound of several gunshots, "pow, pow, pow." Id.

This testimony corroborated Steadman's who said that he was over at the Queen Anne Lane house, retrieving some clothing after the breakup when Cornelius Wells arrived on the scene and forced Steadman to go to Deborah to either resolve things or break up. [T. 363-68]. Steadman said that when he arrived, the situation was an ambush, with Cornelius jumping out of the Kia and yelling to Deborah "kill him, kill him". *Id.* Steadman said if Deborah's gun had not jammed, he would probably have been killed under the pretext of allegations of him stalking Deborah. [T. 369-72]. Steadman admitted returning fire against Deborah whom he said fired first, and in the process hit the house with gunfire. *Id.*

The indictment charged Steadman with kidnapping Cornelius, shooting into an occupied dwelling, stealing Cornelius' Kia and being a felon in possession of a firearm. [R. 4]. The jury must have believed the defense testimony, but since Steadman admitted having the gun and driving the Kia away, convicted him of those two charges.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury was not instructed properly and the weight of the evidence is not supportive of the verdicts.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER DAVIS WAS DENIED CRUCIAL JURY INSTRUCTIONS?

Steadman Davis' position is that if the jury had been properly instructed as requested, he would not have been found guilty of the two remaining charges in this case. The jury should have been informed that Steadman's evasive actions inured to his benefit on the auto theft and felon in possession charges.

In proposed jury instruction D-9, Davis requested an instruction on the defense of duress, while in D-11 he asked for an instruction on the defense of necessity. [R. E. 14-15; R. 39-40, T. 461-66].

In *Hatten v. State*, 938 So.2d 365, 369 (Miss. App. 2006), Hatten was charged with being a felon in possession of a firearm. Hatten challenged the weight of the evidence against him, but the court found that since the jury was properly instructed, the verdict should stand. Hatten's jury was instructed as follows:

The Court instructs the jury that where a convicted felon, reacting out of reasonable fear for his life or safety of himself, in the actual, physical course of a conflict that he did not provoke, takes temporary possession of a deadly weapon for the purpose or in the course of defending himself, he is not guilty of being a convicted felon in possession of a deadly weapon. However, the possession of a deadly weapon by the convicted felon either before the danger or for any significant period after it, remains a violation.

The same instruction had been ruled an accurate statement of the law in *Lenard v. State*, 828 So.2d 232, 237 (¶¶ 24-25) (Miss. App.2002). In *Lenard*, however, the

instruction had been denied which the court found to be harmless because the important factors were covered by other instructions. Here, in the present case, Davis was apparently granted a self-defense instruction pertaining to the shooting into the occupied dwelling, but no other instruction explained defenses to the two counts under which Davis was convicted. [T. 451].

In the case *Ruffin v. State*, 992 So.2d 1165, 1177-78 (Miss. 2008), the court discussed the defense of duress, stating the general rule that "where a person reasonably believes that he is in danger of physical harm he may be excused for some conduct which ordinarily would be criminal." [Citations omitted.]. The "components of duress" are:

(1) the defendant was under an unlawful and present, imminent, and impending threat of such a nature as to induce a well-grounded apprehension of death or serious bodily injury; (2) that he had not recklessly or negligently placed himself in the situation; (3) that he had no reasonable legal alternative to violating the law; (4) that a direct causal relationship may be reasonably anticipated between the criminal action and the avoidance of harm.

Duress is a recognized defense to kidnapping. *Milano v. State*, 790 So.2d 179, 191-92 (Miss.2001); *Brooks v. State*, 236 So.2d 751, 754 (Miss.1970); *Watson v. State*, 212 Miss. 788, 792-93, 55 So.2d 441, 443 (1951).

According to *Smith v. State*, 948 So.2d 474, (Miss. App. 2007) the defense of duress is synonymous with the defense of necessity and is classified as a "justification" defense, citing *Bain v. State*, 67 Miss. 557, 560, 7 So. 408, 409 (1890), and *Powe v. State*, 176 Miss. 455, 461, 169 So. 763, 765 (1936), and *Brown v. State*, 252 So.2d 885

(Miss.1971) where the court said "[i]n the final analysis the most that can be said relative to the appellant's testimony as to duress is that it presented a question for the jury to determine."

Since D-9 and D-11 properly stated the law and were not covered by other instructions, Davis is entitled to a new trial. *Green v. State*, 884 So.2d 733, 735-38 (Miss. 2004).

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE VERDICTS?

Davis filed a motion for a new trial challenging the weight of the evidence adduced at trial. The appellate courts of Mississippi will not reverse a conviction for being against the weight of the evidence unless "to allow it [the conviction] to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶ 18) (Miss.2005).

Since the jury found Davis not guilty of kidnapping and not guilty of shooting into an occupied dwelling, the logical conclusion was that Davis was justified in returning fire against Deborah, and was justified in driving the Kia away as his only means of regress because his life was in danger.

Ultimately, under Count 3, the evidence, at best, supports only a verdict of trespass in a vehicle under Miss. Code Ann §97-17-87 (1972); and, under Count 4 the evidence supports no conviction at all.

In Lyle v. State, 8 So. 2d 459, 460 (Miss. 1942), the court recognized:

the rule that where, upon the entire record, it is manifest that sound and reasonable men engaged in a search for the truth, uninfluenced by bias or other improper motives or considerations, could not safely accept and act upon the evidence I support of an issue as true, a jury will not be permitted to consider it.

In *Lyle*, the Supreme Court reversed and rendered an arson conviction based on weak improbable testimony of the state's key witness. *Id.* Here, because the evidence is even weaker than in *Lyle*, Steadman Davis is requesting the same relief, or alternatively, a new trial; because, reasonable jurors could not "safely accept and act upon" the testimony of the state witnesses as presented in the trial of this case.

It follows that the verdicts of guilty under Counts 3 and 4 were not supported by the credible evidence and Davis' conviction, should be reversed, even viewing the state's evidence in the best possible light. *Edwards v. State*, 736 So. 2d 475, 477-79 (Miss. Ct. App.1999).

CONCLUSION

Steadman Davis is entitled to have his convictions reversed and rendered or remanded for a new trial.