IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEADMAN DAVIS

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0845-SCT

APPELLANT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

.

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING INSTRUCTIONS D-9 AND D-11

In the First Assignment of Error, the Appellant complains of the fact that he was not given an instruction on the defense of duress (Instruction D-9, Vol. 1, pg. 39) and the defense of necessity (Instruction D-11, Vol. 1, pg. 40). Instruction D-9 was refused by the trial court on the ground that it was not supported by "the law and evidence". (R. Vol. 5, pg. 463). D-11 was refused because it was confusing and was not supported by the evidence. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 465 - 466).

We note preliminarily that each of these instructions began with the statement that "[e]vidence has been presented that the defendant acted under duress in committing the crime" and with the statement that "[e]vidence has been presented that the defendant acted under necessity in committing the crime". There are at least two fundamental problems with these statements.

The first is that, had these instructions been granted, the jury would have been told that there was evidence in support of these instructions. We submit that this would have amounted to a judicial comment on the evidence or an emphasis as to part of the evidence. However, courts are not to comment on the weight of evidence or credibility of witnesses or emphasize part of the evidence. Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-17-35 (Rev. 2007); *Hancock v. State*, 964 So.2d 1167, 1172 -

1173 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). These comments could have been taken by the jury to mean that the court held the view that the defenses involved had merit, and for that reason should not have been in the instructions. While it may be that a trial court should determine whether there is evidence to support proposed instructions in the process of deciding whether instructions should be given, it should not inform the jury of its finding in this regard.

The second problem arises from the fact that the Appellant stood charged with four separate felonies. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 4 - 5). The instructions, though, merely referred to "the crime". The text of the instructions did not indicate which crime or crimes charged against the Appellant the instructions were intended to relate. Nor is it clear that the instructions were intended to set up these defenses as to all charges. The instructions as drafted were very confusing for this reason. They were also confusing in that they were not tied to the facts of the case and were abstract. The simply set out the elements of duress and necessity. A trial court commits no error in refusing confusing instructions. *Sudduth v. State*, 562 So.2d 67, 72 (Miss. 1990).

It may be said that the trial court did not clearly state these reasons as grounds for refusing the instructions, but, if so, this would be a point with no consequence. If an action of a trial court can be upheld for any reason, this Court must affirm. *Gates v. Gates*, 616 So.2d 888, 890 (Miss. 1993). The instructions were fatally flawed; the trial court was correct in refusing them.

Nonetheless, the Appellant here asserts that the duress and necessity instructions related to the two charges the Appellant was convicted of, namely theft of a motor vehicle and felon in possession of a firearm. The problem for the Appellant here is that the defense did not argue that in the trial court with respect to the possession of a weapon charge. In the trial court, the defense asserted that it wanted the duress and necessity instructions to meet the motor vehicle theft charge. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 462; 464). Consequently, the Appellant may not now attempt to urge error because

the trial court did not grant those instructions with respect to the felon in possession of a firearm charge. *Staten v. State*, 989 So.2d 938 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).²

In any event, as to the felon in possession of a firearm charge, there was simply no evidence in support of duress and necessity. The evidence is quite clear that the Appellant had possession of the firearm quite before the time he arrived at the house in which Wright was staying. He was in no danger prior to the time he arrived at that house, and there is absolutely no evidence that he was

It does not appear that the Mississippi Supreme Court or this Court appear to have definitively distinguished the two defenses, but they are distinguishable. The facts in cases in which the defenses have arisen show the distinction. The defense of duress arises where an accused claims that he committed a criminal act at the command of another because he feared bodily harm or death at the hands of the other if he did not commit the act. *E.g. Ruffin v. State*, 992 So.2d 1165, 1177 - 1178 (Miss. 2008); *Milano v. State*, 790 So.2d 179, 191 - 192 (Miss. 2001); *Banyard v. State*, No. 2006-KA-01843-COA (Decided 10 March 2009, Not Yet Officially Reported).

Necessity, on the other hand, can arise where a person claims that he had to commit a criminal act in order to avoid serious injury or death as to himself or another under any number of circumstances not involving duress. Although there are not so many decisions in this State involving this form of the defense, two are illustrative: *Knight v. State*, 601 So.2d 403 (Miss. 1992)(accused, after having accidentally run over a child in his automobile, ran from the scene when someone told him he had better leave) and *Stodghill v. State*, 892 So.2d 236 (Miss. 2005)(Where defense was raised in a DUI case. The accused, while under the influence of alcohol, thought it necessary to drive his girlfriend to a hospital from a remote country location).

In instances of the necessity defense, the fact pattern is that the accused committed some offense in order to avoid death or serious bodily harm to himself or another, or perhaps some other significant evil. In a duress case, though, the fact pattern is that the accused committed some crime because he was ordered (or compelled, to use the phrasing of the jury instruction concerning duress in the case at bar) to do so by another and threatened with serious injury or death if he did not comply. Duress might be thought of as particular form of the defense of necessity, just as the defense of self - defense is a particular form of the defense of necessity, but it is not synonymous with necessity. Duress is a form of the defense of necessity, but it would not be correct to say that necessity is the same thing as duress.

² The Appellant, citing *Smith v. State*, 948 So.2d 474 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007), asserts that the defense of duress is synonymous with the defense of necessity. (Brief for the Appellant, at 5). If by this the Appellant means that the names of these defenses are interchangeable – that the defenses are one and the same in substance --, we disagree. And if this is what he thinks, then one must wonder why he submitted two instructions for the same defense, if indeed duress and necessity are the same defense.

compelled to have possession of the weapon. *Williams v. State*, 953 So.2d 260 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). A trial court does not err in denying an instruction for which there is not an evidentiary predicate. *Banyard v. State*, No. 2006-KA-01843-COA (Miss. Ct. App., Decided 10 March 2009, Not Yet Officially Reported).

The facts of this case relevant to the possession charge bear no resemblance to the facts of *Hatten v. State*, 938 So.2d 365 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), cited by the Appellant. In that decision, the accused claimed that he was in possession of a firearm because he took it away from some person who was menacing him with it. Here, the Appellant himself admitted in his testimony that he was in possession of the firearm prior to the gunfight at the house – that he had it because he had it. There was nothing to show that he had some reasonable fear for his safety at that time. The facts of *Lenard v. State*, 828 So.2d 232 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), also cited by the Appellant, are also factually inapposite, as a cursory review of the decision will quickly show.

In support of his notion that he was somehow under duress to possess the weapon, the Appellant cites *Ruffin v. State*, 992 So.2d 1165 (Miss. 2008), in which the elements of duress were set out. This profits the Appellant nothing for the simple reason that there was no evidence at all that he was under an unlawful and present, imminent and impending threat of such a nature as to induce a well ground apprehension of death or serious bodily harm while was at Wright's house, before he left with Wells, and while he was on the way to the house with Wells. The most the Appellant thought he was going to get into, according to his testimony, was a fist fight. As importantly it was not shown that some person compelled him to possess the gun.

As to the theft of a motor vehicle, the Appellant's testimony was that he had to take the vehicle in order to remove himself from the danger of being shot again. However, the Appellant fails to take into account the significance of the testimony as to what he did after he left the scene

of the shooting. There was testimony that he went off with the car to meet with Shepard and to give her the keys to her car; there was testimony that he cruised by the scene of the gunfight after it was over; and there was testimony that he did not relinquish the vehicle until he was stopped and placed under arrest.

One of the elements of the defense of necessity is a showing that the act charged was committed in order to prevent a significant evil. *Stodghill v. State*, 892 So.2d 236 (Miss. 2005). It simply cannot be said that the Appellant was preventing a significant evil by going to meet with Shepard and then driving past the scene of the shooting. Once the Appellant was out of harm's way, he should have then and there relinquished the vehicle, if indeed his purpose was simply to avoid the risk of being shot again. To the extent that the defense of necessity excuses or justifies an otherwise criminally culpable act, as a logical matter that excuse or justification exists only for so long as the threat giving rise to the excuse or justification reasonably exists.³ The evidence clearly showed that the Appellant was going about his business in Wells' vehicle at a time when he was in no danger at all.

Another element of the defense of necessity is that there was no adequate alternative to the commission of the criminal act. Here, the Appellant could have left the premises on foot, or he could have sought cover behind the car or a nearby tree or house. That the Appellant was wounded in the

³ We have not found authority in this State for this proposition – nor any against it. However, we think an apt analogy would be found in the law of defense of self. Where one continues to use force against another after the threat of harm or death from that other has been removed, such use of force is unnecessary. Self - defense is unavailable under such a circumstance. *Harris v. State*, 937 So.2d 474 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Similarly, then, if one commits an act to prevent a significant evil, which act otherwise would be criminal in nature, that "license", so to say, to commit such an act would exist only for so long as the possibility of the infliction of that significant evil would reasonably exist. Clearly, the Appellant was in Wells' vehicle long after the shooting at the house and at a time when he was in no danger.

buttock would have been no impediment. That wound did not prevent him from going to see Shepard. Indeed, after meeting Shepard, the wound did not prevent him from going back to the scene of the shooting.

As for whether duress was shown with respect to the theft of the vehicle, we submit it was not. The Appellant was not coerced by anyone to take the automobile. He was not threatened with harm if he did not take the vehicle.

The First Assignment of error is without merit.

2. THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICTS OF GUILTY AS TO FELON IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM AND THEFT OF A MOTOR VEHICLE

In the Second Assignment of Error, the Appellant appears to assert that the evidence was insufficient to permit verdicts of guilty with respect to felon in possession of a firearm and theft of a motor vehicle. In considering this claim, we bear in mind the standard of review appurtenant to it.⁴ *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1984).

Taking the evidence in favor of the verdicts of guilty as true, and disregarding the evidence opposed to those verdicts, the verdict of guilty with respect to the felon in possession of a firearm charge was clearly supported. The State proved that the Appellant had been convicted of a felony. It was also proved, even by the Appellant himself, that he was in possession of a firearm on 21 May 2006. The State's evidence further showed that the Appellant had a handgun while in Wright's

⁴ The Appellant points out that he was acquitted of shooting into a dwelling and kidnaping. He was indeed, though it is quite a mystery to us how the jury could have reached such a conclusion given the strength of the evidence on those charges and the absurdity of the Appellant's account of what transpired. Nonetheless, we do not understand the Appellant here to assert that the verdicts of guilty should be set aside on account of some alleged inconsistency. In any event, the fact that a jury has returned possibly inconsistent verdicts is no ground to set aside those convictions for which it found guilt. *Curry v. State*, 939 So.2d 785 (Miss. 2006).

house, that he used it to force Wells' to drive him to the house in which Wright was living, and that he fired several bullets in or at the house. The Appellant, in his testimony, admitted that he had a gun. It may be that the Appellant had a different tale to tell about his reason for having a gun, but it is sufficient to say that, for purposes of considering whether the evidence was sufficient to permit a verdict against the Appellant, the State's evidence was more than sufficient to show a violation of Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-37-5. *Edwards v. State*, 966 So.2d 837 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

As for motor vehicle theft, the testimony in support of the verdict was that the Appellant, after having been shot in the butt, scampered out of the house, got into Wells' vehicle, and drove off. He did not have Wells' permission to do so. He later drove by the house, sending Wright's family members and the policed rushing pell mell for cover. The Appellant found time to visit his friend in Wells' truck. The Appellant only gave up possession of it upon his arrest. This was entirely sufficient to show that the Appellant wilfully and without authority took possession of Wells vehicle with the intent to permanently or temporarily deprive Wells' of possession of the vehicle . Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-17-42 (Supp. 2007).

The Appellant suggests that the evidence, with respect to the theft count, supported trespass, at most. He provides no argument or citation to authority for such a bold claim, and it should be treated as having been abandoned. *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521 (Miss. 1996). Nonetheless, there was not a shred of evidence to support a theory of trespass. The Appellant does not appear even to have requested an instruction on trespass. The evidence of what the Appellant did with respect to taking Wells' car was sufficient to permit a verdict of guilty on the motor vehicle theft count of the indictment. *Cf. Hogan v. State*, 854 So.2d 497 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.